WOOA

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE	¥
FEB 14 1994	¥
CLERK, SUPREME COUR	E
Chief Deputy Clerk	•

PATRICIA RAFTERY and DIANA BURNS,	)		Chief Deg
Petitioners,	)		
v.	)	CASE NO:	81,998
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)		
Respondent.	)		
	)		

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA CERTIFYING QUESTIONS TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

\*

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

AMENDED

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PATRICIA RAFTERY AND DIANA BURNS

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

CRAIG K. SATCHELL, ESQ.
COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS
4330 SHERIDAN STREET
SUITE 202B
HOLLYWOOD, FLORIDA 33021
305-966-5202
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 254851

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols, abbreviations and references will be utilized throughout this Initial Brief in the Merits of Petitioners, PATRICIA RAFTERY and DIANA BURNS:

The term "Petitioners" or "Defendants" shall refer to the Defendants in the County Court below, PATRICIA RAFTERY and DIANA BURNS.

The term "Respondent" shall refer to the prosecution in the County Court below, the State of Florida.

Citations to the pleadings filed at the trial court level contained with the Record of Appeal logged in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, together with transcripts of the hearings conducted below, the decision issued by the Fourth District and the Order on Motion for Certification, contained within pages 1-556 of the Appendix to Initial Brief on the Merits shall be designated by "A" followed by the appropriate page number (A).

All emphasis in this Petitioner's Brief on the Merits have been supplied by the undersigned counsel unless otherwise specified.

## STATEMENT OF CASE

On November 22, 1989 Petitioner PATRICIA RAFTERY was arrested for violation of Section 316.193 Florida Statutes ( A 218, 222).

On January 11, 1991 Petitioner DIANA BURNS was arrested for violation of Section 316.193 Florida Statutes ( A 221, 224).

On April 22, 1991 the Petitioner PATRICIA RAFTERY filed her "Motion to Suppress Breath Test Results" ( A 226-231) and "Motion to Exclude Documents" ( A 226-231, 232-235).

On April 24, 1991 the Petitioners PATRICIA RAFTERY and DIANA BURNS filed their "Supplemental Response to States Demand for Discovery" (Rulemaking packages for Chapter 10D-42 F.A.C. ( A 275-277).

On April 26, 1991 Petitioner DIANA BURNS filed her "Motion to Suppress Breath Test Results" ( A 236-241).

On May 1, 1991 Petitioner DIANA BURNS filed her "Motion to Exclude Documents" ( A 242-245).

On May 8, 1991 Petitioners PATRICIA RAFTERY and DIANA BURNS filed their "Supplemental Response to States Reciprocal Demand for Discovery" (Instrument and Maintenance documents for Intoxilyzer Serial No. 64-002863 A 268-274; and for Intoxilyzer 64-002864 A 261-267).

On May 6 and 8, 1991 Petitioners DIANA BURNS and PATRICIA RAFTERY filed their respective "Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Exclude Documents and Motion to Suppress Breath Test Results" (A 246-260).

On May 16, 1991 hearing was held before the Honorable Zebedee Wright, County Court Judge upon Petitioners PATRICIA RAFTERY and

DIANA BURNS "Motion to Suppress Breath Test Results" and "Exclude Documents" ( A 129-216).

On May 17, 1991 Petitioners PATRICIA RAFTERY and DIANA BURNS filed their respective "Clarification of Argument Presented at Hearing on Motions" ( A 278-280).

On June 6 and 7, 1991 hearing was held before the Honorable Susan Lebow, Robert Zack, and June LaRian Johnson upon subject motions filed by the undersigned counsel in their respective trial divisions (A 1-128). The record of these June 6 and 7, 1991 hearings was incorporated into the record herein as stipulated between the parties and predates, is separate, and is to be distinguished from the hearings held in State v. Rushing, et. al., Supreme Court Case No. 81,999, 4DCA Case No. 92-469 held on July 12, 1991 and September 20, 1991.

On June 14, 1991 the Honorable Zebedee Wright, County Court Judge rendered his Order GRANTING Motion to Suppress Breath Test Results with certification to the District Court of Appeals (A 281-292).

On June 16, 1991 the Respondent filed its "Notice of Appeal" ( A 298-299).

On July 17, 1991 the Honorable Zebedee Wright filed his Certification to the District Court of Appeals, Fourth District NUNC PRO TUNC ( A 304-305).

On June 15, 1992 the Respondent filed "Notice of Related Cases" before the District Court of Appeals for the Fourth District in the subject 4DCA Case No. 91-1848 ( A 306-307).

On July 24, 1992 the Petitioners filed their "Notice of Opposition to Grouping of Appeal with Unrelated Cases" in the subject 4DCA Case No. 91-1848 ( A 308-310).

On July 24, 1992 the Petitioners filed their "Supplemental to Notice of Opposition to Grouping of Appeal with Unrelated Cases" in the 4DCA Case No. 91-1848 ( A 311-314).

On July 28, 1992 the Petitioners filed their "Second Supplemental Notice of Opposition to Grouping with Unrelated Cases" (A 315-317).

On August 4, 1992 the District Court of Appeals for the Fourth District entered its Order directing the Respondent-Appellant to respond to Petitioner-Appellees Motions filed on July 24 and 28, 1992 ( A 318-319).

On August 14, 1992 the Respondent-Appellant filed its "Response to Order to Respond" ( A 320-322).

On August 21, 1992 the District Court of Appeals for the Fourth District rendered its Order directing Petitioners-Appellees to respond to Respondent-Appellant's response filed August 14, 1992 (A 323).

On August 31, 1992 Petitioners filed their "Appellees Response to Appellants Response to Order to Respond" ( A 324-338).

On November 4, 1992 the District Court of Appeals for the Fourth District rendered its Order GRANTING Petitioner-Appellees "Second Supplemental Notice of Opposition to Grouping with Unrelated Case filed July 28, 1992" ( A 339-340).

On March 10, 1993 the District Court of Appeals for the Fourth District entered its Order reversing the Order of the Honorable

Zebedee Wright suppressing the breath test results on authority of <a href="State v. Rochelle">State v. Rochelle</a>, 609 So2d 613 (Fla 4DCA 1992) ( A 341).

On March 24, 1993 the Petitioners-Appellees filed their "Motion for Rehearing and/or Certification" with attached exhibits from the record ( A 342-358).

On June 9, 1993 the District Court of Appeals GRANTED the Petitioners-Appellees "Motion for Rehearing and/or Certification" filed March 24, 1993. By this Order the 4DCA certified "as questions of great public importance those questions certified in State v. Nevadomski, Case No. 92-0763 (Fla 4DCA June 9, 1993)" (A 359).

On June 23, 1993 Petitioners filed their "Motion to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction" of this Most Honorable Court ( A 360).

On June 23, 1993 Petitioners filed their Motion for Clarification of Order Granting Motion for Certification ( A 361-367).

On August 16, 1993 the Court of Appeals rendered its Order "deferring" ruling on Motion for Clarification ( A 368).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner Raftery was administered a breath test for determination of blood alcohol content on November 22, 1989 upon Broward Sheriff's Office Intoxilyzer 5000 Serial No. 64-002864 (A 218, 222, 267).

Petitioner Burns was administered a breath test for determination of blood alcohol content on January 11, 1991 upon Broward Sheriff's Office Intoxilyzer 5000 Serial No. 64-002863 (A 221, 224, 274).

# EXHIBITS INTRODUCED INTO EVIDENCE AT HEARING ON MOTIONS

Broward Sheriff's Deputy David Fries, maintenance officer for the Intoxilyzer Serial No. 64-002863 and 64-002864 ( A 140-141), identified at the outset of the May 16, 1991 hearing upon Petitioner's Motion to Suppress Breath Test Results and Motion to Exclude Documents ( A 226-235, 236-245) the preventative monthly maintenance and annual inspection documents for these respective test instruments filed in the Petitioners "Supplemental Response to State's Demand for Discovery" ( A 261-267, 268-274, 141-142). These documents included: the instrument registrations ( A 262, 269); the annual inspection sheet HRS Form 713 for each instrument ( A 263, 269); the unpromulgated "Inspectors Annual Data Sheet" utilized in the 1989 annual inspection of Instrument Serial No. 64-002864 ( A 264); the unpromulgated "Inspectors Annual Data Sheet" utilized in the 1991 annual inspection of Instrument Serial No. 64-002863 ( A 271) the unpromulgated HRS Form 1514, Feb. 86 utilized in preventive monthly maintenance of Instrument Serial No. 64-002864 for the months of October and November 1989 ( A 265-266); the unpromulgated HRS Form 1514, Feb 86 utilized in preventive monthly maintenance of Instrument Serial No. 64-002863 on January 2, 1991 and January 26, 1991 ( A 272-273); the Running Log HRS Forms 1503, Nov 86 for the respective Instruments ( A 267, 274).

The Trial Court accepted into evidence the Rulemaking Packages under Seal of the Secretary of State for Chapter 10D-42 Florida Administrative Code, hereinafter referenced as F.A.C., as such existed during the State Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services tenure as the agency charged with implementation of the Implied Consent Law from 1983 through date of the hearing herein (A 139).

These Rulemaking Packages set forth in the Petitioners "Supplemental Response to States Demand for Discovery" contained Amendments to Chapter 10D-42 <u>F.A.C.</u> effective March 8, 1983 ( A 401-424), effective October 23, 1984 ( A 425-453), effective January 10, 1989 ( A 454-465), and effective February 25, 1990 ( A 466-478).

These exhibits included HRS Form 1514, Sept 82 ( A 393) with HRS Forms 711 and 713 which were all incorporated by reference into Chapter 10D-42 <u>F.A.C.</u> "filed pursuant to Chapter 120 F.S." effective March 8, 1983 ( A 391-395).

The "law implemented" by the 1983 Amendments was Section 316.1932(1)(f)(1) Florida Statutes (A 401). These 1982 Amendments to Chapter 10D-42 F.A.C. at Rule 10D-42.23 F.A.C. (1983) set forth the following standards for instrument registration and annual inspection:

10D-42.023 Registration - Chemical Test Instruments or Devices. All chemical breath test instruments or devices used for breath testing under provisions of Chapter 322 316, Florida Statutes, shall be previously checked, certified for proper calibration and performance, and

registered by authorized personnel of the Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, by trade name, model number, serial number and location, on forms provided by the Department. All such chemical test instruments or devices registered hereunder and allied equipment shall be checked at least annually for accuracy and reproducibility by Department personnel. (A 402).

The Registration/Annual Inspection Rule above mentioned remained substantially the same until August 1, 1991 Amendments, with minor revisions occurring only in the amendments to Chapter 10D-42 <u>F.A.C.</u> effective October 23, 1984 ( A 427-428) as set forth below:

10D-42.023 Registration - Chemical Test Instruments or Devices. All chemical breath test instruments or devices used for breath testing under provisions of Chapter 316, and 327, Florida Statutes, shall be previously checked, certified approved for proper calibration performance, and registered by authorized personnel of the department, by the trade name, model number, serial number and location, on forms provided by the Department. All such chemical test instruments or devices registered hereunder and allied equipment shall be checked at least annually once each calendar year (January 1 through December 31) for accuracy and reproducibility.

These exhibits contained in the 1983 Rulemaking Package Rule 10D-42.24(1)(c) <u>F.A.C.</u> (1983) concerning preventive monthly maintenance, as follows:

(c) Chemical instruments used in the breath method shall be inspected at least once each calendar month by a technician to insure general cleanliness, appearance and accuracy (A 404).

This above mentioned rule governing preventive monthly maintenance was additionally accompanied by provisions in Chapter 10D-42 <u>F.A.C.</u> (1983) that incorporated "HRS Form 1514, Sept 82 as follows:

(b) Maintenance Procedures - Preventive maintenance shall be performed according to procedures outlined in HRS Form 1514, Sept 82, "Breath Alcohol Instrument Check List Preventive Maintenance Procedures".

Please see: Rule 10D-42(10)(b) F.A.C. (1983) ( A 408).

These provisions governing the use of the HRS Form 1514, Sept 82 for preventive monthly maintenance remained the same until August 1, 1991 as reflected in the Amendments to Chapter 10D-42 F.A.C. (effective February 25, 1990). Rule 10D-42(11)(d) F.A.C. (1990) provided:

<u>d</u> b Maintenance Procedures-Preventive maintenance shall be performed in accordance with procedures outlined in HRS Form 1514, Sept 82, "Breath Alcohol Instrument Check List- Preventive Maintenance Procedures", which is incorporated by reference ( A 472).

There was "no change" in the 1990 Amendments to Chapter 10D-42 of Rule 10D-42.024(1)(c) <u>F.A.C.</u> governing preventive monthly maintenance which contained the same language as had existed in the 1983 Rule (A 467).

The promulgated rules contained in Chapter 10D-42 <u>F.A.C.</u> governing preventive monthly maintenance and annual inspections of test instruments set forth at 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024(1)(c) <u>F.A.C.</u> were the same from 1983 through August 1, 1991.

The Trial Court at the May 16, 1991 hearing further accepted into evidence the 1989 Amendments to Chapter 10D-42 <u>F.A.C.</u> (effective January 10, 1989) ( A 454-465). These Amendments codified by formal rule promulgation "the existing HRS Approval Criteria for Evidentiary Alcohol Breath Testing Instruments" ( A 462) which criteria were utilized in prototype testing for "approval" of proposed types of testing instruments.

The Rule 10D-42.022  $\underline{F.A.C.}$  (1989) governing criteria for Certification of types of Instruments required specific tests and set specific standards for acceptable accuracy deviation in instrument prototype evaluation that did not exist by formal rule

promulgation for Instrument Registration, Annual Inspection, or Preventive Monthly Maintenance as follows:

- (3) The department shall conduct the following tests for precision, accuracy (systematic error), blank readings, and blood to breath correlation:
- (a) Precision-shall measure the alcoholic content of a vapor mixture with an average standard deviation of no more than 0.004 weight per volume at ethanol vapor concentrations of 0.050 percent weight per volume, 0.100 percent weight volume, and 0.150 percent weight per volume using a minimum of 50 simulator tests at each concentration.
- (b) Accuracy-shall measure the alcohol content of a vapor mixture with systematic error of no more than plus or minus 10 percent of an ethanol vapor concentration of 0.050 percent weight per volume, and no more than plus or minus 5 percent at concentrations of 0.100 percent weight per volume and 0.150 percent weight per volume using a minimum of 50 simulator tests at each concentration. The systematic error is the difference between the mean measured value and the known values expressed as a percentage of the known value.
- (c) Blank reading-shall indicate an average instrument reading of no more than 0.01 percent weight per volume when breath from an alcohol-free subject is tested, using a minimum of 25 breath tests or blank simulator tests.
- (d) Breath to blood correlation the instrument reading shall be compared with direct measurement of capillary or venous whole blood samples. A minimum of 8 tests shall be conducted and at least 7 of the 8 breath alcohol data points shall not deviate from the breath to blood correlation line by more than 0.02 percent weight per volume.

Specific Authority: 316.1932(1)(b)(1), 316.1932(3) ( A 456).

# TESTIMONY OF MAINTENANCE OFFICER FRIES AND HRS INSTRUCTOR LOWER

Deputy Fries testified that he utilized three .10% ethanol simulator solutions, three .10% ethanol simulator solutions with acetone added, and three .20% ethanol simulator solutions in conducting his monthly preventive maintenance ( A 143). Deputy Fries testified that the standard for accuracy deviation on the

.10% ethanol solutions utilized in the monthly preventive maintenance was .005%, on the .20% ethanol solutions was .01%, and on the acetone/ethanol solution .005% ( A 143). Deputy Fries testified that these standards for accuracy deviation were utilized throughout Broward County ( A 143) by authority of "instructions of HRS, verbal instructions" ( A 144). Deputy Fries testified that aforementioned standards for accuracy deviation were not promulgated as "Rules" pursuant to rule making provisions of Section 120.54 Florida Statutes and that they were not contained in Chapter 10D-42 F.A.C. which regulates "approved" chemical testing ( A 144-145).

Deputy Fries testified that the approval standards for models or instrument prototypes requiring 150 simulator tests, 25 blank tests, and blood/breath correlations contained in the Amendments to Chapter 10D-42  $\underline{F.A.C.}$ , effective January 10, 1989 ( A 454-465) as set forth at 10D-42.022 did not apply to monthly maintenance set forth at Rule 10D-42.024(1)(c)  $\underline{F.A.C.}$  (1990) ( A 146).

Deputy Fries testified that the State Inspector conducted 25 simulator tests pursuant to Rule 10D-42.023 <u>F.A.C.</u>, to satisfy the requirement of the "annual inspection". Deputy Fries acknowledged that the requirement of 25 tests for annual inspection had not been promulgated as a "rule" pursuant to Section 120.54 <u>Florida Statutes</u> and was not contained in Chapter 10D-42 <u>F.A.C.</u> ( A 146-147). Deputy Fries acknowledged that none of the maintenance standards employed to determine accuracy of the instruments Petitioners were tested upon had been promulgated as Rules made part of the <u>F.A.C.</u> ( A 147). Deputy Fries further acknowledged that the State Inspector has expressed concern that the preventive monthly

maintenance and annual inspection standards "may constitute invalid rules because they have not been promulgated after hearing" and notice (A 148). Deputy Fries expressed "concern" further "on the failure to put in writing the standards which we use on the monthly maintenance" (A 149) and further advised that "the standard for annual inspections as well as monthly inspections may constitute invalid rules because they have not been promulgated" (A 149). Deputy Fries noted that the State Inspector further expressed "concern" that the Inspectors Annual Data Sheet utilized in yearly inspections had not been promulgated as a Rule (A 155).

Deputy Fries advised that the maintenance procedures utilized had not been noticed in the Florida Administrative Weekly as required by Section 120.54(1) Florida Statutes (A 151). Deputy Fries advised that there had been no published comparison with existing Federal Standards as required by Section 120.54(11)(a) Florida Statutes in the informal application of these unpromulgated standards and procedures (A 152-153). Deputy Fries advised that these "standards" and "procedures" for determination of instrument accuracy (of which Deputy Fries was "verbally informed") had further not been published by the Secretary of State in the F.A.C. as required by Section 120.55 Florida Statutes (A 153-154). Deputy Fries testified that these "standards" and "procedures" have not been subjected to public hearing as required by Section 316.1932(1)(f)(1) Florida Statutes (A 155). Please also see: Section 120.54(3)(a) Florida Statutes.

Deputy Fries testified that HRS Form 1514, Feb 86 utilized by Deputy Fries in his maintenance had not been promulgated as an "approved" form through Section 120.54 Rulemaking. Deputy Fries

testified that the Form 1514, Sept 82/HRS Form 1514, Feb 86 on its face does not set standards for accuracy ( A 165).

Officer Richard Lower at the May 16th hearing testified that he is an Instrument Maintenance Officer on the Intoxilyzer 5000, lead HRS Instructor for all chemical breath testing at Broward County Community College, the instructor at the Police Academy in Dade County, and that he has instructed chemical breath testing at Indian River Police Academy ( A 172). Officer Lower further advised as to these "secret rules" ( A 174) that:

Right now, the rule standards, there is no specification as to what simulator values shall be mixed to test the instrument. It has been verbally communicated that we, should be doing .010. There is also, on the 1986 version, the Form 1514 requirement for acetone. But I had been informed by HRS inspector that there really isn't an acetone standard. So if the instrument fails that test, it can still be continued to use ( A 175).

Officer Lower at the May 16th hearing testified that he has expressed concern to HRS (regarding instrument maintenance) as to the lack of codified standards and the non-compliance with Chapter 120 Florida Statutes Rule Making Procedures ( A 180-182).

As to Rule 10D-42.024(1)(c) <u>F.A.C.</u> (1990) that requires inspection "at least once each calendar month by a technician to insure general cleanliness, appearance, and accuracy", Officer Lower advised of its failure to set adequate standards as follows:

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