13,12

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE
NOV 19 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

PATRICIA RAFTERY and DIANA BURNS,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 81,998

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE
FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
CERTIFYING QUESTIONS TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER
Sr. Assistan

Sr. Assistant Attorney General Chief, Criminal Law, West Palm Beach Bureau Florida Bar No. 339067

JAMES J. CARNEY

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ι

The methods of HRS' maintenance accuracy checks sufficiently comply with Florida Statutes.

II (Certified Questions)

The void for vagueness doctrine is inapplicable where the issue is the adequacy of administrative rules to give guidance to professionals testing equipment used for blood-alcohol testing for evidentiary purposes. Assuming the doctrine has some applicability, the rules, with accompanying forms, are sufficiently specific.

There is also no equal protection violation. As recognized in Rochelle v. State, 609 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), the forms did not vary substantially from the adopted form. different form Accordingly, the was not discriminatory. Additionally, assuming that the reliability of the results from the different procedures were questionable, respondent has not shown how he was adversely affected. Id. at 617. As held by the Fourth District, one cannot claim discriminatory treatment if one . was not treated unfairly, merely because it is possible someone was unfairly treated. Id. at 618.

III

Even if the Rules are void for vagueness and/or violate due process, the results are admissible if the State can lay the traditional predicate. Additionally, retroactivity is not prohibited.

PETITIONER'S POINT I (Restated)

DO THE METHODS OF HRS' MAINTENANCE ACCURACY CHECKS SUFFICIENTLY COMPLY WITH FLORIDA STATUTES.

Petitioner initially attempts to raise a question not certified or found to be of great public importance by the Fourth District, despite respondent's repeated attempts to get that Court to do so. This Court should decline to answer that question.

At any rate, this question has essentially been answered. The Court in State v. Rochelle, 609 So. 2d 613, 616 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), found that the failure to promulgate the revised form that was part of the rule did not render the test results inadmissible. Accord State v. Berger, 605 So. 2d 488, 491 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), rev. granted, Veilleux v. State, (Case no. 80,767) (failure of HRS to promulgate the rule did not preclude the use of breath test results in criminal activity trial); State v. Westerberg, 16 Fla. L. Weekly C149, C154 (Pinellas County Court July 19, 1991) (same). See also Mehl v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S487 (Fla. Sept. 13, 1993).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ON JURISDICTION OF COUNTY COURT

Initially, respondent does not concede that the county court had jurisdiction in this case. "Subject matter jurisdiction . . . is a power that arises solely by virtue of the law." Florida Export Tobacco Co. v. Department of Revenue, 510 So.2d 936, 943 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (citation omitted). "[S]ubject matter jurisdiction has its origin only in the statutes or constitutions." Steckel v. Blafas, 549 So.2d 1211, 1213 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (citation omitted).

The county courts are not vested with jurisdiction to entertain direct challenges to administrative rules by any constitutional provision. Article V, Section 6(b), Florida Constitution, provides:

Jurisdiction - The county courts shall exercise the jurisdiction prescribed by general law. Such jurisdiction shall be uniform throughout the state.

See also Article V, Section 20(c)(4), Florida Constitution.

No statute invests the county courts with subject matter jurisdiction to entertain attacks upon administrative rules. See the Administrative Procedure Act (A.P.A), chapter 120, Fla. Stat. (1989). The higher courts, on the other hand, are both constitutionally and statutorily invested with jurisdiction to consider in initio challenges to administrative rules and/or to review administrative actions.

Only the circuit courts have jurisdiction to initially entertain a direct attack on an administrative rule. Section 120.730, Florida Statutes, reads:

Circuit court proceedings; declaratory judgments-Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to repeal any provisions of the Florida Statutes which grants the right to a proceeding in the circuit court in lieu of an administrative hearing or to divest the circuit courts of jurisdiction to render declaratory judgments under the provisions of chapter 86.

And, the state constitution provides:

Circuit courts. -

Jurisdiction - the circuit courts shall have original jurisdiction not in the vested county courts, jurisdiction of appeals when provided by general law. They shall have the power to issue writs of mandamus, quo warranto, certiorari, prohibition, and habeas corpus, and all writs necessary or proper to the complete exercise of Jurisdiction of their jurisdiction. the circuit court shall be uniform They shall have throughout the state. direct power of review administrative action prescribed by law.

Article V, Florida Constitution; <u>See also</u> Article V, Section 20(c)(3), Florida Constitution.

Article V, Sections 3b and 4b, Florida Constitution, gives the district courts of appeal and the Florida Supreme Court the authority to hear appeals from orders entered in regard to agency actions as prescribed by general law. Under the A.P.A., judicial review of rules is delegated as follows:

Except in matters for which judicial review by the Supreme Court is provided by law, all proceedings for review shall be instituted bv filing the district court petition in appeal in the appellate district court the agency maintains where headquarters or where a party resides.

Section 120.68(2), Florida Statutes.

Moreover, there simply was no due process requirement that the defendant be allowed to challenge the H.R.S. rules before the county court. "The fundamental requirements of due process are satisfied by reasonable opportunity to be heard." Florida Public Service Commission v. Tripple "A" Enterprises, Inc., 387 So.2d 940, 943 (Fla. 1980) (citations omitted); See also Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67, 80, 92 S.Ct. 1983, 1994, 32 L.Ed.2d 556 (1972); Zimmermon v. Burch, 494 U.S. 113, 110 S.Ct. 975, 964, 108 The defendant had a reasonable opportunity L.Ed.2d 100 (1990). to be heard through the administrative rulemaking process. Although due process guarantees the defendants a right to have their claims heard, it does not guarantee a particular forum. "[D]ue process is met if one adequate method of judicial review of the orders of administrative agencies is set up . . . such methods may be made exclusive by statute." Bath Club, Inc. v. Dade County, 394 So.2d 110, 113-114 (Fla. 1981) (citations omitted).Subject matter jurisdiction and exhaustion administrative remedies are two distinct, albeit related, issues:

[T]he companion doctrines of primary jurisdiction and exhaustion of remedies require circuit courts to abstain from exercising their equitable jurisdiction

over administrative proceedings where adequate administrative remedies have not have exhausted.

Florida Board of Regents v. Armesto, 563 So.2d 1080, 1081 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(emphasis added)

The county courts, unlike the circuit courts, are without subject matter jurisdiction to entertain direct challenges to the Health administrative rules of The Department of Rehabilitative Services (H.R.S.) because they do not have the equitable jurisdiction given the circuit courts in §120.73, It bears reemphasizing that the Florida Statutes (1989). challenges below were direct attacks on the validity of the administrative rules as opposed to a claim that law enforcement officers did not substantially comply with the rules and related The county court had jurisdiction to consider claims that there was no substantial compliance by law enforcement with H.R.S. Rules and related statutes. See State v. Bender, 382 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1980); State v. Donaldson, 579 So.2d 728 (Fla. 1991).

Section 316.1934(2), Florida Statutes, provides certain evidentiary presumptions as to "the results of any [breath] test. administered in accordance with s.316.1932 . . . and this section shall be admissible into evidence when otherwise admissible . . " (emphasis supplied). Section 316.1932, Florida Statutes, provides in material part:

316.1932 Breath, blood, and urine tests for alcohol, chemical substances, or controlled substances; implied consent; right to refuse.

(1)(a) . . .An analysis of a person's breath, in order to be considered valid under this section, must have been performed substantially according to approved by the Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services. For this purpose, the department is authorized to approve satisfactory techniques or methods. Any insubstantial differences between approved techniques and actual testing procedures in any individual case shall not render the test or test results invalid.

(emphasis supplied).

Neither section conditions admissibility of breath test results upon the facial validity of the H.R.S. rules or upon the manner in which the rules enacted. The breath tests are conducted by law enforcement agencies, not H.R.S. Moreover, section 316.1932(1)(f)(1) confirms that the substantial requirement applies to law enforcement in administering the tests rather than to H.R.S. in enacting rules:

The tests determining the weight of alcohol in the defendant's blood shall be administered at the request of a law enforcement officer substantially in accordance with rules and regulations which shall have adopted by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services. . .

(emphasis supplied).

Clearly then, whether there is substantial compliance with the rules in the administration or performance of the tests is an issue relevant only to the manner in which the tests are conducted by the police agencies.

While the county court had jurisdiction to determine whether there was substantial compliance by law enforcement with the rules of H.R.S. and relates statutes, it had none to entertain an attack upon the rules themselves. It is because the circuit courts are both constitutionally and statutorily vested with jurisdiction to entertain initially or upon review challenges to administrative rules that "the determination of whether a particular controversy may be taken out of the administrative process and into a circuit court is a question of judicial policy and not a matter of judicial jurisdiction." Key Haven Associated Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of Trustees, 427 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1982). The same is not true of the county courts because under no circumstances do they have subject matter jurisdiction to consider direct attacks on administrative rules.

There is an "age-old rule that a court may not in any case, even in the interest of justice, extend its jurisdiction where none exists. . ." Christianson v. Colt Industries Operating Corp., 486 U.S. 800, 108 S.Ct. 2166, 2178, 100 L.Ed.2d 811 (1988). "While perhaps tempted to address the merits, [the county court should not have done so] it is fundamental principle of law that if a court is without jurisdiction, it has no power to adjudicate or determine any issue or cause submitted to it." Capricorn Marble Company v. George Hyman Construction Co., 462 So.2d 1208 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (citation omitted).

Petitioner has also failed to exhaust administrative remedies. It has long been established that "where an

administrative remedy is provided by statute, relief must be sought by exhausting this remedy before the court will act." Halifax Area Council on Alcoholism v. City of Daytona Beach, 385 So.2d 184, 186 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (emphasis added) (citations omitted): see also Brooks v. School Board of Brevard County, 382 So.2d 422 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Orange County, Florida v. Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission, 397 So.2d 411 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Criterion Insurance Co. v. State of Florida, Department of Insurance, 458 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Gulf Coast Home Health Services of Florida, Inc. v. State of Florida, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 513 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); City of Deland v. Lowe, 544 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 5th DCA Moreover, "[w]hen the facial unconstitutionality of an agency rule is the focus of an aggrieved party's constitutional claim, the administrative proceedings must be exhausted and the claim presented to the district court." Key Haven Associated Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of Trustees of the International Trust Fund et. al., 427 So.2d 153, 157 (Fla. 1982).

Thus, the county court erred in considering the sufficiency of the HRS rules, because exhaustion of administrative remedies. before obtaining judicial review is mandatory.

EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES

Even if the county court had discretion to consider the challenge advanced below, its ruling represents an abuse of discretion. First, exhaustion of administrative remedies is in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Procedure

Second, Petitioner would not be prejudiced by following the administrative course. Although the trials would be delayed beyond the usual 90 day period, the defendants are not forced to sacrifice their speedy trial rights. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.191(d)(2). Third, it can hardly be agreed that the methods employed by the Petitioner are more judicially economical. While in a very narrow and short term view it would appear more economical, in the larger scheme of things it is anything but economical. There are 67 counties in the state. There are hundreds of sitting county court judges. When the total number of those judges is multiplied by the number of driving under the influence cases that involve breath testing machines, it is clear that thousands of challenges are possible with possibly hundreds of differing conclusions reached by the assorted county court A determination that judicial economy is served by proceeding in the instant fashion is refuted by the sheer number of cases which are now before the courts as a result of various rulings.

It is far more judicially economical to require initial presentation of such claims to H.R.S. One consistent interpretation will be rendered by the agency for judicial evaluation. Assuming that judicial review is sought, at most there will be five different rationales because the legislature has limited judicial review of this sort to the district courts of appeal. The long term efficacy of requiring exhaustion of administrative remedies was explained this way:

[A]gency review of a constitutional attack upon one of its rules affords the agency the opportunity of modifying its should it appear necessary or desirable do to so thus perhaps eliminating the need for further administrative litigation or hearing regarding the rule.

Occidental Chemical Agricultural Products, Inc. v. State of Florida, Department of Environmental Regulation, 501 So.2d 67 678 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).16

Petitioner may counter that procedures for monthly and annual checks for testing of the intoxilyzers have statewide application and thus meet the definition of a "rule" as that term is defined in Section 120.52.16, Florida Statutes, and Department of Transportation v. Blackhawk Quarry Co. 528 So.2d 447 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 536 So.2d 243 (Fla. 1988).

Accepting that as true, that does not negate the necessity of first exhausting administrative procedures. In <u>Occidental Chemical</u> the court held that if a rule is deemed to be a statute the circuit court could exercise jurisdiction, but if it were deemed to be a typical agency rule then the circuit court could not exercise jurisdiction. Id., 677 citing <u>Key Haven</u>, supra. Dicta in the <u>Key Haven</u> case appears to have engendered some of the confusion regarding both the exhaustion issue and the jurisdictional issue. The court stated:

We have expressly recognized that circuit courts have the power, in all circumstances to consider constitutional issues. Gulf Pines Memorial Park, Inc. v. Oakland Memorial Park, Inc., 361 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1978). However, we stated in Gulf Pines that, as a matter of judicial policy, 'the

circuit court should refrain entertaining declaratory suits except in the most extraordinary cases, where the seeking to bypass administrative channels can demonstrate that no adequate remedy remains under Chapter 120. Id., at 169. Clearly, determination of whether particular controversy may be taken out of the administrative process and into a circuit court is a question of judicial policy and not a matter of jurisdiction.

Key Haven, 156-157.

The issue in Key Haven was not jurisdictional because the circuit courts have jurisdiction to render declaratory judgments such Again, the county courts have no under §120.73. jurisdiction. Moreover, even if there was a jurisdictional basis for the county court to proceed upon, it could not properly As the above passage entertain the claims advanced below. reveals, such judicial relief is appropriate only "in the most extraordinary cases, where the party seeking to bypass usual administrative channels can demonstrate that no adequate remedy remains available under Chapter 120" Id., 157. No showing of extraordinary circumstances was made below.

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